IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENYA SPLOND,	Docket No. 82989	Oct 15 2021 02:20 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cour
Appellant,	Docket 140. 62969	
v. STATE OF NEVADA,		
Respondent.		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Monique McNeill, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 9862
P.O. Box 2451
Las Vegas, Nevada 89125
Phone: (702) 497-9734
Email: Monique.mcneill@yahoo.com
Attorney for Appellant Splond

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENYA SPLOND,	Docket No. 82989
Appellant,	Docket No. 82989
v. STATE OF NEVADA,	
Respondent.	

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis for Supreme Court's or Court of Appeal's Jurisdiction:

This appeal is from a denial of a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and appellate jurisdiction in this case derives from NRS 177.015(3).

B. The Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal:

Order Denying Petition Filed: 5/19/2021

Notice of Appeal Filed: 5/24/2021

C. Assertion that Appeal is From a Final Order or Judgment:

This Appeal is from a denial of a petition for writ of habeas corpus in a Criminal Matter; thus, jurisdiction is proper before this Court.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant was convicted of a category B felony. Therefore, pursuant to NRAP (17)(b)(3), this appeal presumptively is routed to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 5, 2014, the State obtained a Grand Jury Indictment charging Kenya Splond ("Splond") as follows: Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Felony – NRS 200.380, 199.480)); Count 2– Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm (Felony – NRS 205.060); Count 3 – Robbery with a Deadly Weapon (Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.165); and Count 4– Possession of Stolen Property (Felony – NRS 205.275(2)(c)). Appellant Appendix ("AA") 42-45.

On March 3, 2015, the State filed a Motion to Consolidate case C-14-296374-1 with case C-14-300105, in which Splond was charged with two counts of Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm, and two counts of Robbery with Use of a Deadly Weapon. AA75-80. At the time of that motion, the defense counsel did not object. AA108-113.

On April 8, 2015, the State filed an Amended Indictment charging Splond as follows: Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Felony – NRS 200.380,

199.480)); Counts 2, 5 and 7– Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm (Felony – NRS 205.060); Counts 3,6 and 8 – Robbery with a Deadly Weapon (Felony – NRS 200.380, 193.165); and Count 4 – Possession of Stolen Property (Felony – NRS 205.275(2)(c)). Appellant Appendix ("AA") 114.

Trial commenced on March 15, 2016, but was continued due to discovery issues. AA38. Trial recommenced on March 21, 2016. AA38. The jury rendered a verdict on March 24, 2016. AA193. The jury found Splond guilty on all counts, as charged. AA226-228. After pre-sentence litigation regarding the contents of the presentence investigation ("PSI") report, the sentencing was held on February 6, 2017. AA257. The court sentenced Splond as follows: Count 1 – Twelve (12) to Sixty (60) months; Count 2 – Twenty-eight (28) to One hundred fifty-six (156) months, Count 2 to run concurrent to Count 1; Count 3 – twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months, plus a consecutive twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months for the use of the deadly weapon, to run concurrent with Count 2; Count 4 – twenty-four (24) to sixty (60) months, Count 4 to run concurrent with Counts 1, 2 and 3; Count 5 – twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months, Count 5 to run consecutive with 1, 2, 3 and 4; Count 6 – twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months, plus a consecutive twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months for the use of the deadly weapon, Count 6 to run concurrent with Count 5; Count 7 – twenty-eight (28) to

one hundred fifty-six (156) months, Count 7 to run consecutive to other counts; and Count 8 – twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months, plus a consecutive twenty-eight (28) to one hundred fifty-six (156) months for the use of the deadly weapon, Count 6 to run concurrent with Count 7. AA257-258. The aggregate sentence was one hundred sixty-eight (168) months to nine hundred thirty-six (936) months. AA258. Splond had nine hundred thirty-five (935) days credit for time served. AA258.

A Judgment of Conviction was filed on February 13, 2017. AA256. On March 2, 2017, Splond filed a Notice of Appeal on March 2, 107. AA259-261. The following issues were presented:

- 1. District Court erred in failing to reinstate the offer that was never conveyed to the defendant.
- 2. District Court erred in allowing a witness to introduce uncharged bad acts and to speculate about the loaded status of a handgun.
- 3. District Court erred by finding that there was no illegal stop of defendant.
- 4. District Court relied on a flawed PSI.
- 5. The cumulative effects of the errors affected Splond's rights.

On December 17, 2018, the Court of Appeals affirmed Splond's conviction. (Case No. 72545). On January 24, 2019, Remittitur was issued.

On April 24, 2019, Splond filed a Pro Per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. AA937. In his petition, Splond raised the following issues:

- 1. The police violated his fourth amendment rights by conducting an illegal search and seizure.
- 2. The court State violated Splond's right to a speedy trial by conducting his trial three years after he was arrested, due to discovery issues.
- 3. Splond's counsel failed to convey an offer from the State, and the State did not reconvey that offer.
- 4. The prosecution withheld discovery.
- 5. Splond is actually innocent.
- The State violated Splond's right to due process by charging him with a deficient complaint.
- 7. Splond's trial attorney was ineffective for failing to investigate the case, for failing to present a defense and for failing to subpoena phone records, for failing to object to the constitutionally infirm complaint, for failing to object to evidence at trial, for failing to ask for a Petrocelli hearing, for failing to object to jury instructions, and for failing to object to the PSI.
- 8. Splond's first attorney was ineffective for failing to communicate with him, for failing to turn over discovery, for failing to file motions. AA937-1003.

On December 16, 2019, the Court granted Splond's Motion for Appointment of Counsel, and counsel filed two supplemental petitions. AA1029, 1030. The State filed a response on January 12, 2021. AA1096 Splond filed a reply on January 25, 2021. AA1129. The supplement raised the following grounds:

- 1. Counsel was ineffective for failing to convey an offer.
- 2. Counsel was ineffective for failing to oppose the State's Motion to Consolidate cases.
- 3. Counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert testimony.
- Counsel failed to ask for jury instructions on eyewitness testimony and failed to ask for jury instructions on the elements of possession of stolen property.
- 5. Counsel failed to elicit testimony to negate the elements of possession of stolen property.
- 6. Counsel failed to argue that the State had not met its burden regarding the possession of stolen property.

On February 1, 2021, the District Court denied the petition in part. AA1144. The district court set an evidentiary hearing on one ground (the allegations that counsel did not convey the offer). AA1146. The district court held the following with regards to the other grounds:

- Splond's initial arguments in his petition were waived as he did not address them on direct appeal. AA1146
- 2. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to oppose the State's Motion to Consolidate. AA1148
- 3. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to retain an expert on eyewitness identification. AA1148
- 4. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to request jury instructions on the theory of defense. AA1149-50.
- 5. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to negate the elements of possession of stolen property. AA1150

The evidentiary hearing on the allegation regarding the conveyance of the offer was held on April 15, 2021. AA1198. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court denied the remaining ground of the petition. AA1243.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. PRIOR COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION LEADING UP TO TRIAL

Frank Kocka originally represented Splond in case C296374. AA275. At the initial arraignment on March 12, 2014, Splond invoked his right to a speedy trial. AA276. At the calendar call on April 2, 2014, counsel indicated that he was unable to go to trial due to already being in a jury trial. AA278. Counsel indicated that he

was "trying to get together with the DA, get an offer on the table. I think we're probably going to get this one resolved. So if you want to set it for a status check in about 30 days?" AA278. The court set a status check for April 30, 2014. AA278.

On the April 30 status check date, counsel indicated that it was the "district attorney's request that we just set a new trial date in the case." AA280. The court then asked "did he waive?" meaning speedy trial. Counsel answered, "I believe he did. . ." AA 280. The court indicated that the ordinary course for trials was 2015, so the court suggested a status check. AA280. Counsel answered, "perfect. Because there's an offer that's floating around out there, we just need to finalize it." AA280.

On June 16, 2014, at the status check date, counsel indicated that Splond had another case set for preliminary hearing, and a sentencing set in another court. AA283. He further informed the court that the State had not yet made an offer, but has assured counsel that she would. AA283. Another status check was set for July 14, 2014. At the July 14 date, counsel was not present, so the court continued the date to July 16, 2014. AA288. On July 16, counsel was again not present. AA290.

On August 13, 2014, the court had a calendar call where counsel indicated he was not ready to go to trial. AA292. He also indicated that there was an offer outstanding that was "not that great" and he wanted a continuance and another status check date. AA292. The next status check date, counsel told the court that the State just indicated

Splond on another case, and that he had not received an offer from the State, and asked for a week's continuance. AA297.

A week later, the State indicated that it had conveyed an offer to Splond's attorney. AA300. The State indicated that it had conveyed an offer, and that counsel "did not like it very much." AA300. Counsel indicated that he would try to talk to the other prosecutor to see if he could "get a better deal." AA301. Again, counsel asked for a two week continuance, and said, "I'm going to get the offer, judge." AA302.

On October 1, 2014, counsel said the case was not negotiated and asked for a trial date. AA304. That trial date was May 26, 2015. AA304. Prior to that date, the State filed a motion to consolidate Splond's two cases. AA305. At the hearing on that date, counsel indicated that he had no opposition to the motion to consolidate, and asked for a status check in 45 days. AA308. Counsel also said, "we're either going to resolve this or I'll be filing motions, Judge." AA308. Counsel was not present at the status check April 8, so the court continued the hearing to April 15, 2015. AA275.

The next status check date was April 15, 2015, counsel indicated that he had been trying to get an offer from the State. AA313. He indicated he could not get either prosecutor on the case to give him an offer. AA313. At that time, counsel said that he had been hired to negotiate the case, not to do the trial. AA313. This was the

first time counsel ever indicated that he had not been retained to do the trial. At all other dates, counsel acted as if he was retained to handle the entirety of the case. Counsel then stated that he was going to have to withdraw. AA314. The court stated, "they will bring an offer on Monday." AA278. The court continued the case to April 20. AA314

Counsel indicated that he had received an offer and that the offer was not "acceptable to" his client, and therefore he asked to withdraw. AA316. The court appointed the public defender. AA317. The court then received word that the public defendant had a conflict, and on April 22, 2015, the court appointed trial counsel. AA319. Trial counsel continued the trial date, and trial eventually got set for January 11, 2016. AA332. At the calendar call date, counsel was not sure if he could proceed, and the case was set over to January 4. AA334. The new calendar call date saw a continuance due to counsel being injured. AA301. The court admonished trial counsel to be ready and set calendar call for January 13, and trial for January 25. AA339. There was some discussion between the state and defense about not being ready that quickly, so the court set the trial March 14. AA340.

On March 15, 2016, the trial commenced. The trial court inquired if an offer had ever been made. AA359. The State said that it had made an offer to previous counsel. AA359. The offer was to plead guilty to two robberies with use of a deadly weapon, right to argue, including for consecutive time. AA359. The court asked

Splond, "did you get that offer, sir, earlier?" AA359. Splond answered, "No." AA359. The court then told Splond he could have time to talk to his counsel about the offer. AA359. The State said that the offer had been revoked "I think well over a year ago." AA360. The court then said, "So there's no current offer?" to which the State answered, "There's no current offer." AA360. The Court then inquired further, and the State informed the court that the offer was made in 2014, and it was withdrawn in the beginning of 2015. AA360. At that, the court told Splond that "so they are telling me now it is withdrawn. So I guess they are not making an offer of any sort it sounds like . . " and that they would "deal with any issues there may be later. . ." AA361. Counsel then said, "And I don't think there's any disagreement, Your Honor, that no offer was ever conveyed to me, or conveyed to Mr. Splond." AA325. The State answered, "That's correct." AA361.

After some discussion about exhibits, defense counsel indicated that he did not have all of the discovery. AA370. The court continued voir dire, but after the conclusion of that court day, the defense asked for a continuance to obtain all of the discovery, and the court continued the trial, and set a status check for the resetting of the trial. AA401. Counsel filed a motion to preserve evidence, and the court heard that motion and reset the trial for March 21. AA409. Counsel indicated that he was also going to file a motion in limine, as "some things had come up" and he was going to "dig into them." AA412. On March 18, the court held another status

check date, the State informed the court that it provided about 1100 pages of discovery to the defense. AA419. Defense counsel then stated that based on some items in the discovery, he filed a motion to suppress. AA419. The court heard the evidentiary hearing on that motion prior to the start of trial. AA430.

II. JURY TRIAL

Samuel Echerverria

Samuel Echeverria ("Echeverria") was working on at the Cricket Wireless store at 4343 North Rancho Drive on January 22, 2014. AA518. Around 4:35 p.m., a black man wearing a black hoodie, black baseball cap, black shirt, black shoes, and blue jeans came into the store. AA518. The man was waiting for Echeverria to finish with another customer. AA519. When the customer left, the man came up to the register and asked for a specific type of battery for his girlfriend. AA519. Echeverria said that he had to check if he had that battery, and then walked to the front of the store and then walked back to the desk with the battery. AA519. As Echeverria was ringing up the battery, he was looking down at the battery to scan it. AA519. When Echeverria looked up, he saw the man pull out a black gun, saying, "Give me all the money before I blow your brains out." AA519. Echeverria described the gun as "a black revolver, like a six shooter." AA520.

Seeing the gun, Echeverria became scared. AA520. Echeverria complied with the man's demands, and then called the police. AA520. When the man left the

store, Echeverria saw the man touch the door to open it. AA530. Echeverria directed the police to where the man had touched and informed them the man was not wearing gloves. AA531.

Some time later, a detective showed Echeverria a six pack lineup. AA521. Echeverria identified someone, and indicated that he felt 100 percent certain the person he chose was the person who came into his store. AA522. When asked if he saw the person who robbed him in court, Echeverria testified that he did not. AA527-528.

Alisa Williams

On January 22, 2014, Alisa Williams ("Williams") was getting off work at A Wild Hair when she saw someone leaving the Cricket Wireless store. AA539. Williams said the man ran out of the store and jumped into the back of a car. AA540. The man was Black, and was "skinny." AA540. The car was silver, but Williams could not remember if the windows were tinted. AA540. However, in her statement to the police, Williams described the car as having tinted windows. AA549.

The person driving the car was a light-skinned Black woman, wearing white sunglasses. AA541. The man jumped into the back seat of the car. Later, police came to speak to Williams. AA541. Williams did not remember police showing her a lineup. AA541. After being shown the lineup, Williams still did not remember being shown the lineup, but did recognize her signature on a lineup form. AA542-

43. Williams was not able to identify anyone in the lineup. AA543. Williams remembered that the man had scarring on his face, from a knife or a burn. AA543 She did not believe the scars were consistent with acne scars. AA543.

Brittany Slathar

On February 2, 2014, Brittany Slathar ("Slathar") was working at the Star Mart around 2:45 in the morning. AA551. The Star Mart is located at 5001 North Rainbow. AA551. Slathar was working as a cashier on the graveyard shift. AA551. Around that time, Slathar was sitting at a table doing a crossword puzzle. AA551. A man walked in, and the door had a bell that rung. AA552. The man walked to the gum, so Slathar walked to the counter. AA552.

The man approached the register with Wrigley Spearmint gum. AA552. Slathar asked if he needed anything else, and the man responded that he wanted two packs of Newport 100 cigarettes. AA552. Slathar turned to get the cigarettes and as she was ringing them up, the man pulled out a gun. AA552. The man told her to give him all the money. AA552. Slathar said that she could not open the register. AA552. The man kept saying, "give me the money, give me the money. I'm gonna kill you. You're gonna die," and called her a "dumb white bitch." AA552. Slathar did not open the register. AA553. Slathar was in fear when she saw the gun. AA553. The man eventually left, and said he would be back. AA553.

The man grabbed the cigarettes on his way out. AA554. Slathar called the police and then locked the doors to the store. AA554. Shortly after, Slathar saw the police pull into the complex. AA554. The police then took her to another scene. AA554. The police gave her a set up instructions for a Show up. AA554. Slathar identified the man in front of the police car as the man who robbed her at gunpoint. AA555. Slathar described the gun as being a black revolver. AA558. Slathar identified Splond in court as being the man who robbed her. AA561. Slathar indicated the man had changed clothing between the robbery and the show up, and that when he was in the store, he was wearing a black sweatshirt and a camouflage beanie. AA570. She also remembered that the man was wearing gloves inside the store. AA572.

Jeffrey Haberman

Jeffery Haberman was the owner of a .38 caliber Colt revolver. AA576. That revolver was stolen from him on October 2013. AA577. Someone broke into Haberman's house and stole his entire gun safe. AA577. Haberman came home one day and his back door was open, and someone had entered his house. AA580. His gun safe had been dragged out of his house. AA580. Haberman recognized his handgun in a photo the State showed to him. AA577. Haberman did not know Splond, nor did he ever give Splond permission to "go into his house" or "borrow

his handgun." AA581. Haberman never gave anyone permission to have his handgun. AA581.

Joshua Rowberry

Joshua Rowberry ("Rowberry") was an officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD"). AA606. Rowberry was working graveyard on February 2, 2014 when he got a call about a robbery. AA607. The call was regarding 5001 North Rainbow. AA607. The call came in around 2:57 a.m., and he arrived in the area around 3:00 a.m. AA610. Rowberry had information that the suspect had gone to the north, so he proceeded to drive around Rainbow, heading north. AA610.

Rowberry did not see any pedestrians, but he did see a vehicle ahead of him traveling north. AA611. Because the car was the only car in the area, Rowberry thought it might be related to the robbery. AA613. The vehicle had some damage to the rear. AA614. Rowberry's attention was drawn to the vehicle as it had the damage to the rear, and he did not know if it had just been involved in an accident. AA615. Rowberry decided to stop the vehicle, after he followed it briefly and it pulled into a residential neighborhood. AA616. Rowberry turned on his lights and sirens and the car stopped. AA616.

Rowberry approached the vehicle, on the driver's side, and noticed that the windows were tinted dark. AA616. Because of the tint, Rowberry could not see into

the back windows. AA616. Rowberry told the driver, who he identified as Kellie Chapman, to roll down the back window. AA618. Chapman complied. AA618. Rowberry noticed a Black man lying in the back seat, covered with a blanket, breathing heavily. AA619.

Rowberry told the man to show his hands, and the man did not comply. AA619. Rowberry then called for a code red to let other officers in the area know that he needed help, and to head his way. AA620. Rowberry identified Splond as being the man in the car. AA619.

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