## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENYA SPLOND,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 15 2021 10:37 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 82989

Respondent.

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal from Denial of a Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009862 P.O. Box 2451 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 (702) 497-9734

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant has not demonstrated that he is entitled to relief on his claims. First, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to convey an offer because the record is clear that not only did Appellant's counsel properly convey the offer provided by the State to Appellant, but also that Appellant rejected the offer.

Second, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to oppose the State's Motion to Consolidate because all three (3) robberies were connected together by common scheme as evidence of each offense was cross admissible for the purpose of intent. Additionally, all three (3) of the robberies in this case share relevant factors such as similarity in offense, victims, temporal proximity, physical proximity, number of victims, weapon, and method. Further, Appellant fails to assert how consolidating these cases deprived him of a fair trial.

Third, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert testimony because the State provided sufficient evidence of proper identification, Appellant's counsel questioned the officer about his lineup procedure, and Appellant failed to claim, let alone establish how expert testimony on a different lineup procedure would have reasonably changed the outcome at trial.

Fourth, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to request jury instructions because Appellant failed to assert any evidence to support a jury instruction on his theory of defense, show how the instructions given to the jury did not sufficiently cover witness identification, and/or demonstrate that the Court would have agreed to give the requested instruction.

Fifth, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony negating elements of possession and failing to argue that the State failed to prove the elements because the State did not fail to prove the elements of Count 4 – Possession of Stolen Property. The State presented evidence at trial that Appellant had never registered the gun and was using it to rob stores; thus, even if counsel had elicited testimony about the elements of possession from the detective, this testimony would not have changed the outcome at trial.

Sixth, the district court properly denied Appellant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to argue in appeal the sufficiency of the evidence regarding the possession of the stolen firearm because as the revolver was both registered and reported stolen, there was sufficient evidence supporting the State's argument that Appellant reasonably should have known that the revolver was stolen. Therefore, Appellant has failed to establish that challenging his conviction as to Count 4 – Possession of Stolen Property would have been successful. Therefore, Appellant has failed to make a showing that he is entitled to relief, and his conviction should be affirmed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. *See* <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), *cert. denied*, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). This Court reviews a district court's denial of a habeas petition for abuse of discretion. *See* <u>Rubio v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court as long as they are supported by the record. *See* <u>Little v. Warden</u>, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

## I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CONVEY AN OFFER.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the Assistance

of Counsel for his defense." The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); <u>see also</u> <u>State v. Love</u>, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, a defendant must prove he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686-87, 104 S.Ct. at 2063-64. See also Love, 109 Nev. at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323. Under the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687-88, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2065, 2068; Warden, Nevada State Prison v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part test). "[T]here is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one." 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069.

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. <u>Means v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103

P.3d 25, 32 (2004). "Effective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Jackson v. Warden, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975).

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to make futile objections or arguments. <u>See, Ennis v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006). Trial counsel has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Rhyne v.</u> <u>State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

Based on the above law, the role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v.</u> <u>State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978). This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Id.</u> To be effective, the constitution "does not require that counsel do what is impossible or unethical. If there is no bona fide defense to the charge, counsel cannot create one and may disserve the interests of his client by attempting a useless

charade." <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n.19, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 (1984).

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 689. "Strategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options are almost unchallengeable." <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P.2d 593, 596 (1992); <u>see also Ford v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. <u>McNelton v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999) (*citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id.</u> (*citing* <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2064-65, 2068).

The Nevada Supreme Court has held "that a habeas corpus petition must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence." <u>Means</u>, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 103 P.3d 25, 33. Further, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel asserted in a petition for postconviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the Appellant to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id.</u> NRS 34.735(6) states in relevant part, "[Appellant] must allege specific facts supporting the claims in the petition[.] . . . Failure to allege specific facts rather than just conclusions may cause your petition to be dismissed." (emphasis added).

Appellant claims that counsel prior to trial, Mr. Kocka, was ineffective because he did not convey an offer of negotiation to Appellant for the two (2) years Appellant's case was pending trial. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") 19. Appellant further appears to indicate that when Mr. Claus replaced Mr. Kocka as counsel of record, he confirmed that he never received an offer. <u>Id.</u> As a result, Appellant argues that if he had accepted the offer, his sentence would have been less than what he was ultimately sentenced to after trial. AOB 20. Appellant finally claims that he established that he would have accepted the plea negotiation because he "asked the court to intervene when counsel made a record regarding the offer." Id. Appellant's claim is belied by the record.

18

In this case, the record is clear that Mr. Kocka received an offer of negotiation

from the State, conveyed it to Appellant and Appellant rejected that offer:

COURT Hey. Is this case resolved?

MR. KOCKA It is not, Your Honor. I did receive an offer on the case; the offer is not acceptable to my client. So at this point, Your Honor, I don't know if you want me to do it formally in writing or you'll accept it orally, but I'm going to have to get him over to the PD's office because he wants to go to trial.

RA 016-018. The Court minutes reflect that Appellant was present on April 20, 2015. Thus, he heard the response his attorney gave to the Court and did not object to his attorney's representations. Therefore, Appellant's claim that his counsel never informed him of the offer is belied by the record.

Moreover, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for not receiving an offer of

negotiation prior to April 2015. Rather, a review of the transcripts indicate that Mr.

Kocka was diligently seeking an offer of negotiation from the State and that they did

not extend one because Appellant had multiple cases. See generally, RA 001-011.

Specifically, on June 16, 2014, Mr. Kocka explained to the district court the status

of the negotiations:

Your Honor, we have been going back and forth with Ms. Lexis of the DA's Office trying to get an offer, a global offer on the table. He has a prelim down at Department 3, and a sentencing currently set in Department 2. I know we set this a couple of times for status checks. Ms. Lexis has assured me she's going to make an offer. She's cautioned it by saying I may not like the offer, but she's going to be getting me an offer for sure. RA 006-007. On September 15, 2014, Mr. Kocka explained that he had received an

offer:

Ms. LEXIS I did convey an offer, You Honor, previously which involved both cases while the second case was still in Justice Court. I can reconvey that offer. All though I know Mr. Kocka did not like it very much, so.

Mr. KOCKA Ms. Trippiedi has the other case, Judge. Maybe I'll talk to her and see if I can get a better deal.

[...]

Mr. KOCKA I'm going to get the offer, Judge.

RA 012-015.

That Mr. Kocka believed he could secure a better offer does not make him ineffective. Indeed, as the record is clear that he did receive and convey an offer to Appellant, the record instead indicates that Mr. Kocka was effective in diligently seeking to obtain a favorable offer of negotiation. Defense counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for his failure to secure a more favorable offer. Counsel does not have control over what the State offers. <u>See</u>, <u>Young v. District Court</u>, 107 Nev. 642, 818 P.2d 844 (1991). Therefore, both Appellant's claims that counsel did not convey or attempt to receive an offer of negotiation from the State is belied by the record.

Moreover, that Mr. Claus claimed he did not receive the offer of negotiation on the first day of trial is of no import. Mr. Claus was appointed to Appellant's case to proceed to trial after all offers of negotiation had been revoked. RA 016-018. That another more favorable offer was not extended while Mr. Claus represented Appellant does not make either Mr. Kocka or Mr. Claus ineffective. Indeed, on the first day of trial, the State made clear that there had not been other offers extended and that any offer of negotiation was revoked when Appellant rejected it two (2) years prior. II AA 000323-000326. Again, neither Mr. Kocka nor Mr. Claus had any control over what plea negotiation the State offers or whether the State offers any plea negotiation whatsoever. <u>See, Young</u>, 107 Nev. 642, 818 P.2d 844.

Appellant claims that Mr. Kocka failed to effectively convey an offer. AOB 26-27. First, the ADKT Standards are intended as guidelines, to be tailored to a case's circumstances. ADKT 411 Standards 9(d) and (e), RA 043. The U.S. Supreme Court has stated that "[n]o particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 668, 688–89, 104 S.Ct. at 2052.

Second, ADKT Standard 9(e) applies to counsel's actions "Prior to the entry of the plea." As there was never a plea in this case, this standard does not apply. The ADKT Standard 9(d) simply states that counsel is to (1) inform the client, explaining the full content, including "advantages, disadvantages, and potential consequences of the agreement", (2) "not attempt to unduly influence the decision, as the decision to enter a plea of guilty rests solely with the client", and (3) if "counsel reasonably

21

believes that acceptance of the plea offer is in the best interest of the client-counsel should advise the client of the benefits". RA 083.

Appellant's claim that "the record does not in any way reflect that counsel did what ADKT411 mandates when conveying an offer" is belied by the record. AOB 29. While Appellant may seek to frame the State's questioning in a light most favorable to a reversal of his jury conviction, the context of Mr. Kocka's statements during the hearing show that Appellant's portrayal is incorrect. During the Evidentiary Hearing on April 15, 2021, Mr. Kocka explained his general practice when conveying an offer:

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